IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANE PATRICK ABDOOL,      )  
                                )  
                                )  
                                Appellant, )  
                                )  
                                )  
vs.                           )                                 CASE NO. SC08-944  
                                )  
                                )  
STATE OF FLORIDA,        )  
                                )  
                                )  
                                Appellee. )  
                                )  
\_\_\_\_\_ )

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT  
OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

## **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

The original record on appeal comprises nineteen consecutively numbered volumes. Counsel will refer to the record on appeal using "Vol." followed by the appropriate Arabic number to designate the volume number, as denoted by the court clerk and not the transcript volume numbers given by the court reporter; followed by either the symbol "R" to denote the page numbers of the pleadings or the symbol "T" to denote the pages of the transcripts (numbered separately from the pleadings); followed by an Arabic number referring to the appropriate pages.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The state charged the Appellant, Dane Patrick Abdool, by indictment with the first-degree murder by conflagration of Amelia Sookdeo, in violation of Section 782.04(1)(a)1, Florida Statutes (2006). (Vol. 4, R 205-207) The state filed its Notice to Seek the Death Penalty (Vol. 4, R 240), and the defendant entered a plea of not guilty to the charges. (Vol. 4, R 210-211)

The defense unsuccessfully contested the legality of Florida's death penalty under *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), contending among other things that it is unconstitutionally imposed by a judge rather than by jury, that it fails to require fact-finding by the jury, and that it fails to require jury unanimity on the recommendation and on each aggravator. (Vol. 4, R 321-324, 325-328, 329-332) The court denied the motion. (Vol. 4, R 370-378) Defense also moved in limine to strike portions of the Florida Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases pursuant to *Caldwell v. Mississippi*, 472 U.S. 320 (1985). (Vol. 5, R 399-401) The trial court denied the motion. (Vol. 2, T 112-113) The trial court also denied defense counsel's request for interrogatory verdicts for the penalty phase. (Vol. 4, R 394-396; Vol. 2, T 113)

A jury trial commenced before the Honorable Lisa T. Munyon, Circuit Judge of the Ninth Judicial Circuit of Florida, in and for Orange County, on February 13,

2008. (Vol. 8, T 1) Prior to the start of the trial, the defense orally moved in limine to preclude the state from calling the victim's father, Deollal Sookdeo, as a witness during the guilt phase of the trial. (Vol. 8, T 26-29) The defense argued that Mr. Sookdeo, who did not live with the victim and her mother, did not have any relevant testimony to offer and was being called merely to evoke the sympathy of the jurors. (Vol. 8, T 26-27) The state asserted that Mr. Sookdeo's testimony was relevant, because initially the victim was listed as a missing person and Mr. Sookdeo would testify that he searched for her and establish whether the victim had previously ever run away from her mother to her father's house. (Vol. 8, T 27-28) The state further asserted that Mr. Sookdeo would testify that he provided a buccal swab for DNA testing to establish the identity of the victim's corpse and that the testimony was relevant to show the jury the lengths that law enforcement had to go to establish the victim's identity, since the victim's body could not be "there isn't anyone who can know her, that can take the stand and identify an autopsy photo because of what the defendant did." (Vol. 8, T 28) Defense counsel responded that difficulty experienced by law enforcement in establishing identity was irrelevant to the issue of guilt or innocence and such testimony was merely addressing the disfigurement of the body when the victim was found. (Vol. 8, T 29) The trial court denied the motion, held that the state had established that the

witness would offer evidence relevant to the guilt phase, and Mr. Sookdeo testified during the guilt phase. (Vol. 8, T 29, 90-94)

At the close of the state's case, defense counsel moved for a judgment of acquittal on the grounds that the state had failed to make out a prima facie case of the element of premeditation and asked that the court reduce the charge to second degree murder. (Vol. 12, T 675-678) Defense argued that the evidence only showed that Mr. Abdool's intention had been to frighten Ms. Sookdeo, not to kill her. (Vol. 12, T 675-677) The trial court denied the defendant's motion for judgment of acquittal. (Vol. 12, T 675-678)

During the testimony of Det. Bobby Gammill, over defense counsel's objection, the trial court allowed the state to ask the detective whether he believed Ms. Sookdeo's death had been an accident. (Vol. 11, T 603) Defense counsel objected to the witness giving an opinion as to the ultimate fact at issue. (Vol. 11, T 603) The state argued that the witness's personal opinion was relevant, because the jury had just viewed a video of an interview, with Mr. Abdool, in which the detective had said it was an accident (Vol. 11, T 603)

The jury returned a verdict of guilty of first degree murder. (Vol. 12, R 791) The court adjudicated the defendant guilty of the charges. (Vol. 12, R 796)

Penalty phase of the trial commenced on February 20, 2008. (Vol. 13) The defense had previously listed expert witness forensic psychologist Dr. Karen Gold, who would be testifying to mental mitigating evidence. Prior to the commencement of the penalty phase hearing, the state sought disclosure of Gold's raw data of tests administered to the defendant, over the defense objection. (Vol. 13, T 814-832) The defense contended that there was nothing in Rule 3.202, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, requiring the prior disclosure of the expert's raw data unless the defendant refused to cooperate with the state's expert, which the defendant had not. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.202(e). Further, the defense cited Section 90.705, Florida Statutes, which provides that an expert may testify in terms of opinion or inferences and give reasons therefor, without the prior disclosure of the underlying facts or data (being required to disclose those only upon cross-examination). Notwithstanding, the trial court ordered the defense to disclose the raw data and test scores to the state, ruling that Rule 3.202 contemplates such a prior disclosure, even in the absence of a refusal to cooperate. (Vol. 13, T 831-832)

Also prior to commencement of the penalty phase testimony, the defense unsuccessfully moved to preclude certain "victim impact" evidence of the victim's father, wherein the father would testify about his fear of losing his other child to anger, pain, and remorse, and that was one more future that he as a father could not

afford to lose. (Vol. 13, T 844, 867, 869) Defense counsel also objected at the beginning of the father's testimony regarding him sitting in his living room with his daughter's death certificate and the outrage he felt at this crime. (Vol. 13, T 867-869) The father of the burning victim also expressed to the jury his feelings in terms of fiery metaphors: "a candle *burns* . . . her face is *seared* into his arm [a tattoo] . . . her image is *seared* into his heart . . ." while his son "*burns* inside" with anger. (Vol. 13, T 867-869) It was noted for the record, that members of the jury were crying during the presentation of the "victim impact" evidence. (Vol. 15, T 1220)

During penalty phase testimony, the state elicited testimony before the jury that the defendant knew right from wrong (Vol. 14, T 1128; Vol. 15, T 1200), that Abdool was competent to stand trial (Vol. 14, T 1128), that he allegedly exhibited no remorse (Vol. 14, T 1133), and that he came from a family of Muslims. (Vol. 13, T 992) However, the court excluded the defendant's evidence of the effect this charge had on his family members (even though permitting the state's victim impact testimony of how it had affected the victim's family) (Vol. 13, T 984), and the court limited the defendant in the number of photographs of him and his family that he would be permitted to introduce. (Vol. 14, T 1078-1081, 1162-1167)

During its closing in support of a jury verdict of death, the state urged the jury to consider that Abdool knew right from wrong (Vol. 16, T 1260) and that he exhibited a “lacked of empathy for the crime itself,” being concerned only with himself. (Vol. 16, T 1262-1263) Under the guise of asking the jurors not to let their penalty verdict be based upon sympathy for the defendant and his family, the state was permitted over objection to argue that the jury should consider that the defendant had the support of his loving family, who gave him opportunities not shared by the common teenager, including purchasing for his use a nice car with fancy racing tires, and that Abdool provided the victim with alcohol (a fact never established). (Vol. 16, T 1266-1267) The state continued, after the overruled objection, to argue that, additionally, the defendant had caused suffering to his family by his actions. (Vol. 16, T 1268)

The jury returned their advisory verdict, recommending a death sentence by a vote of 10 to 2. (Vol. 6, R 736; Vol. 16, T 1301) Following the denial of defendant’s motion for new trial (Vol. 6, R 766-767, 773), the court sentenced the defendant to death, finding only two aggravating factors present: (h) heinous, atrocious, and (i) cruel; and cold, calculated, and premeditated. (Vol. 7, R 861-872, 895-896) The court also found the presence of four statutory mitigating circumstances: The trial court found that the defendant has absolutely no history

of prior criminal activity (assigning it, without any elaboration whatsoever, “moderate weight”). (Vol. 7, R 872) The court also found as a mitigating circumstance Abdool’s age of 19, especially since coupled with his emotional and social maturity of a 12- to 14-year old which did not allow him “to think through the adult situation in which he found himself and arrive at a reasonable conclusion” (assigning this mitigator also “moderate weight,” again without elaboration). (Vol. 7, R 878-879) Additionally, the trial court found as mitigation that the capital felony was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance, and that the capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired, assigning these two circumstances “little weight” and, in so doing, noting that the defendant knew right from wrong. (Vol. 7, R 873-878)

The trial court also found 48 non-statutory mitigating circumstances presented by the defendant to be established:

1. Abdool voluntarily spoke with law enforcement (little weight);
2. He ultimately took responsibility for his actions (little weight);
3. Abdool’s biological father (with whom the defendant had lived as a child) was an alcoholic, which caused arguments in the household (little weight);

4. The biological father had a gambling problem and would spend the family resources on the horses, also causing family arguments (little weight);
5. The defendant suffered from hyperactivity and had features of attention deficit disorder (little weight);
6. Abdool was developmentally delayed (moderate weight);
7. The defendant was extraordinarily made to repeat a school grade in Trinidad, something that never ordinarily happened (little weight);
8. The effect of his parents' divorce in a foreign society that disapproved of divorce (little weight);
9. The influence of Abdool's move to the United States with its many cultural differences (little weight);
10. His estrangement to his biological father (little weight since no evidence regarding the impact it had on the defendant, but with no mention of uncontroverted evidence that the defendant had experienced major difficulties with his mother and step-father upon returning from a visit to his father in Trinidad);<sup>1</sup>
11. Abdool was intellectually dull (moderate weight);
12. The defendant was not given help via special education classes to help with his learning disability (little weight);

13. Abdool's arrested development of social skills and immaturity (moderate weight);
14. The defendant is emotionally underage (moderate weight);
15. Despite a severe mental problem, Abdool possessed islets of ability (very little weight);
16. The effect and the embarrassment of the defendant being held back in school so that he was in the same grade as his brother, two years his junior (very little weight);
17. The defendant showed no signs of racial, ethnic, or religious prejudice (very little weight);
18. Abdool was unable to successfully graduate high school or even to complete classes necessary to obtain his G.E.D. (very little weight);
19. Abdool was able to complete a welding course (very little weight);
20. Shortly after an automobile accident and an argument over a violation of his parents' curfew, Abdool was "*Baker Acted*" for suicidal ideation (very little weight);
21. Family tensions resulted in Abdool moving in with his uncle, wherein Dane repeatedly requested to be permitted to move back home (little weight);

---

<sup>1</sup> (See Vol. 14, T 1056-1063)

22. Abdool suffers from Obsessive Compulsive Disorder symptoms (little weight);
23. Defendant suffers from features of a borderline personality disorder (little weight);
24. Dane suffers from grandiose delusions (very little weight);
25. Defendant suffers from a lack of impulse control (very little weight);
26. Abdool has features of a communications disorder (very little weight);
27. Defendant is a good soccer player (very little weight);
28. The defendant suffers from an attention deficit disorder (little weight);
29. Dane Abdool, according to all of the expert witnesses, has learning disabilities (moderate weight);
30. Abdool suffers from dyslexia (very little weight);
31. The defendant's learning disabilities caused processing glitches, affecting his ability to process information (moderate weight);
32. Abdool functions socially as well as academically at a 4<sup>th</sup> to 6<sup>th</sup> grade level, well below his biological age (moderate weight);
33. Defendant's learning disabilities cause the defendant to misthink things through (moderate weight);
34. The defendant has low self esteem (very little weight);

35. Abdool was a poor student due to his learning disabilities and low average intelligence (moderate weight);
36. Abdool has the love and support of his family (little weight);
37. Dane was taunted by his fellow students and embarrassed for being held back in school by two years and by being in the same grade as his younger brother (very little weight);
38. The defendant suffered from some problems with depression and anxiety (very little weight);
39. Dane dropped out of school because of his inability to pass the FCAT test and successfully complete high school (very little weight);
40. Abdool has a close and loving relationship with his siblings (very little weight);
41. The defendant was unable to function independently of his family (little weight);
42. Abdool suffers from anxiety separation disorder (little weight);
43. The defendant was the victim of racial bias (very little weight);
44. Dane had feelings of inadequacy when compared to his younger brother, who excelled over Dane both academically and socially (very little weight);

45. The defendant could not successfully pass the FCAT and complete high school (very little weight);

46. Dane Abdool was a responsible, trusted employee at the various jobs he held, working two jobs at once (very little weight);

47. Abdool was a model inmate who caused no difficulties in jail and who was generous with his fellow inmates, even those who treated him poorly (very little weight);

48. The defendant exhibited good behavior at trial and caused no problems for the security staff at the courthouse (very little weight).

(Vol. 7, R 879-894)

The court concluded that the two statutory aggravating circumstances outweighed the “several” statutory and non-statutory mitigating circumstances, that the jury death recommendation was supported by the record beyond a reasonable doubt, and that Abdool had “forfeited his right to live at all,” imposing a sentence of death. (Vol. 7, R 895-896)

Notice of Appeal was timely filed. (Vol. 7, R 905) This appeal follows.

## **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Nineteen-year-old “child-like” Dane Abdool suffered from a life-long learning disability and personality disorder (much like his biological father), with “pretty substantial” and “highly-significant” deficits, which caused “processing glitches” in the defendant’s ability to think and understand (even though he would appear to), and which can influence interpersonal behavior. (Vol. 13, T 880-890, 936; Vol. 14, T 994-995[father]; Vol. 15, T 1202-1204, 1206, 1211) Abdool had the emotional, educational, and social maturity of a 10½- to 14-year old, and could not deal well with ambiguity or crises. (Vol. 13, T 936-937; Vol. 15, T 1207, 1211-1212) By all accounts (including that of the state’s own expert psychologist), when faced with such an emotionally highly-charged situation as occurred here, Dane would have difficulty operating normally, unable to process information quickly and reason through the situation. (Vol 14, T 1176; Vol. 15, T 1183-1185, 1189, 1206) This crime, the state psychologist attested, was an aberration in the Abdool’s life, he having no prior history whatsoever of violence. (Vol. 15, T 1213-1216)

Shortly after the death of Amelia Sookdeo, Dane Abdool voluntarily spoke with law enforcement and told them what had happened to Amelia. (Vol.8, T 139,592) Dane had and Amelia had previously been involved in a relationship;

Dane was now in love with Denise Bhoop, a college student at the University of Florida, but Amelia was in love with Dane and wanted to hold onto him. (Vol. 10, T 499-502,543-544; Vol. 8, T 64-68) She called Dane constantly and refused to take the hint that he was no longer interested in her romantically. (Vol. 10, T 468,598) One night an argument between the two escalated and Dane decided that he would scare Amelia, but the gasoline, that he had doused her with to scare her, ignited and Amelia died. (Vol. 8, T 152; Vol. 10, T 535; Vol. 11, T569-570)

Amelia Sookdeo and her younger brother, lived with her mother, Madree Lachman; her father Deollal Sookdeo did not live with the family. (Vol. 8, T 47, 91) Ms. Lachman was from Guyana and her upbringing had been very strict, as was traditional for her culture. (Vol. 8, T 48) She tried to bring up her children as strictly as she had been raised. (Vol. 8, T 53-54) Amelia, however, was born in Orlando and she did not always appreciate her mother's approach to child rearing. (Vol. 8, T 48, 54) In particular, Amelia disagreed with her mother over the subject of boys; her mother forbid her to date and seventeen year old Amelia was in love with Dane Abdool and would often sneak out of the house to see him. (Vol. 8, T 49-50, 68)

Occasionally Ms. Lachman would discover that Amelia had snuck out, which would result in an argument between mother and daughter. (Vol. 8, T 49)

Eventually, Ms. Lachman learned that Amelia was dating Dane Abdool (Vol. 8, T 49) On Christmas Eve in 2004, Ms. Lachman called the police and reported Amelia as missing. (Vol. 8, T 51-52) The next morning they brought Amelia home; she had spent the night at Dane Abdool's house celebrating Christmas with his family. (Vol. 8, T 52, 57-58)

Starting in late 2005, Amelia spent a lot of time at the home of her best friend, Natasha Jagllal. (Vol. 8, T 63, 77) Amelia would talk to Natasha about Dane quite a bit and Natasha knew that Amelia was in love with him. (Vol. 8, T 64, 68) Natasha also knew, because Amelia told her, that Dane was dating someone else, namely Denise Bhoop, so Natasha advised her friend to find someone new, but Amelia would not listen. (Vol. 8, T 66-67) According to Natasha, the most important things in the world to Amelia were love and having someone in her life to listen to her. (Vol. 8, T 76)

Natasha believed that Amelia was a very troubled young woman and that Amelia suffered from mood swings, which would take her from happy to depressed. (Vol. 8, T 69) Several months before she died, Amelia started to seem to be slightly depressed. (Vol. 8, T 54) The conflict with her mother was continuing and her mother had taken away her cell phone and her car. (Vol. 8, T 54)

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