IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANE PATRICK ABDOOL,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC08-944

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS PL-01, THE CAPITOL Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583 (850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The second rule at issue is Rule 3.220. The rule provides in pertinent part, that a defendant who elects to participate in discovery, must allow the state to inspect, copy, test, and photograph any reports or statements of experts made in connection with the particular case, that is in the defendant's

possession or control, including results of physical or mental examinations and of scientific tests, experiments, or comparisons. 9 Rule 3.220(d)(1)(B)(ii), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure.

Abdool's entire argument turns on the notion that Rule 3.220 does not apply to the penalty phase of a capital trial. Abdool is mistaken.

Although this Court has apparently not squarely addressed the exact same claim Abdool raises here, this Court has recognized the applicability of both Rule 3.202 and Rule 3.220 to penalty phase proceedings. In Kearse v. State, 770 So.2d 1119 (Fla. 2000), the defendant claimed Rule 3.202 was unconstitutional because the defense was required to give written notice of intent to present expert testimony of mental mitigation, to give a statement of particulars listing the mitigating circumstances the defendant expects to establish through the expert testimony, and to list the names and addresses of the experts who will establish the mitigation, while imposing no corresponding duties on the state.

This Court rejected Kearse's claim. This Court noted that, while Rule 3.202 does not by its terms require reciprocal discovery by the State, Rule 3.220 does.

⁹ Abdool does not dispute that he elected to participate in discovery pursuant to Rule 3.220(a), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. (TR Vol IV 213-218).

This Court observed that Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.220 governs discovery in all criminal proceedings. Kearse v. State, 770 So. 2d at 1126, n.3. This Court noted that Rule 3.220 provides for two-way discovery and imposes obligations on both sides, including disclosure of expert witnesses. Kearse v. State, 770 So.2d at 1126-1127.

Nothing in Rule 3.202 prohibits a trial court, in its discretion, from ordering the disclosure of defense experts' raw testing data once the defendant has been convicted of first degree murder. Likewise, nothing in Rule 3.202 supports a finding that Rule 3.202 preempts any other rule of criminal procedure, including Rule 3.220.

In this case, the trial court applied Rule 3.220 to compel disclosure of the defense experts' raw data to the state's mental health expert, immediately before the penalty phase began. In line with this Court's decision in Kearse, the trial court committed no error. This Court should deny Abdool's fourth claim on appeal.¹⁰

Abdool's suggested "remedy" in this case is that the trial court should require disclosure of raw data only after the defense expert has taken the witness stand and is testifying. (IB 61). Such a suggestion is contrary to this Court's consistent position that the purpose of discovery is to prevent trial by ambush. Scipio v. State, 928 So.2d 1138 (Fla.2006). (This Court has held that the chief purpose of our discovery rules is to assist the truth-finding function of our justice system and to avoid trial by surprise or ambush). Delaying

ISSUE V

WHETHER THE PROSECUTOR'S ARGUMENTS DEPRIVED THE DEFENDANT OF A FUNDAMENTALLY FAIR PENALTY PHASE (RESTATED)

In this claim, Abdool presents a claim of prosecutorial misconduct. Abdool claims the questions posed to three witnesses, two expert and one lay, during the penalty phase of Abdool's capital trial, deprived him of a fundamentally fair penalty phase. Abdool complains only of two areas of inquiry. (IB 62-64)

A. Questioning penalty phase expert witnesses

In this portion of Abdool's fifth claim, Abdool alleges it was improper of the prosecutor to elicit testimony from two expert witnesses that the defendant knew right from wrong, was competent to stand trial, and exhibited no remorse for the killing. The testimony about which Abdool complains came during the state's cross-examination of defense expert, Dr. Karen Gold,

disclosure of defense experts' raw data until the expert is actually testifying would foster a penalty phase by ambush.

Moreover, while Abdool cites to Gore v. State, 614 So.2d 1111 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) and claims the court discussed the requirements of Rule 3.202, Abdool is mistaken. (IB 61). Nowhere in Gore is there even a discussion of Rule 3.202. This is not surprising since Rule 3.202 was not even in existence in 1992 when Gore was decided. Amendments to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.220-Discovery (3.202-Expert Testimony of Mental Mitigation During Penalty Phase of Capital Trial), 654 So.2d 915 (Fla.1995). Even so, raw data of testifying mental health experts was not even at issue. Instead, attorney work product was the focus of the Fourth DCA's decision in Gore.

and during the direct examination of State expert, Dr. Daniel Tressler.

(1) Dr. Gold

During the penalty phase, Abdool presented the testimony of Dr. Karen Gold, a forensic psychologist. The purpose of presenting Dr. Gold was two-fold; negate CCP and establish the mental mitigators. 11

During direct examination, Dr. Gold testified that, in her opinion, both statutory mental mitigators applied. (TR Vol. XIV 1125). She also described Abdool's mental and emotional age as somewhere between 12-14 years of age. (TR Vol. XIV 1126). Dr. Gold testified that Abdool had an impulse control disorder and was delusional. She described the latter condition as a "very, very, very serious mental disorder..." (TR Vol. XIV 1119). Dr. Gold described Abdool as someone who is intellectually limited and immature. (TR Vol. XIV 1108). During cross-examination, the prosecutor asked Dr. Gold the following questions:

Prosecutor: Now, you would agree that he's not mentally retarded, right?

Dr. Gold: That's correct

<u>Prosecutor</u>: That he was not insane at the time of the offense, that he knew right from wrong

¹¹ This initial purpose is made more obvious by Appellant's initial brief. Appellant relies on Dr. Gold's testimony to argue that CCP was not supported by competent substantial evidence. (IB 76-83)

Dr. Gold: Yes.

<u>Prosecutor</u>: That he was competent to stand trial, understands what is going on?

Dr. Gold: Yes

Prosecutor: Correct?

Dr. Gold: I conducted a competency evaluation, yes.
(TR Vol. XIV 1128).

A bit later, the prosecutor asked Dr. Gold:

<u>Prosecutor</u>: You found that he [Abdool] had characteristics of an antisocial personality disorder.

Dr. Gold: Yes ma'am.

Prosecutor: And some of that was lack of empathy for others?

Dr. Gold: That's correct, at the time.

<u>Prosecutor</u>: Inability to appreciate the consequences of his actions?

Dr. Gold: Somewhat.

<u>Prosecutor</u>: Another feature of anti-social personality disorder is lack of remorse.

Dr. Gold: Yes.

<u>Prosecutor</u>: You also found that he had features of borderline personality disorder and some features of a dependent personality disorder.

Dr. Gold: Yes.

<u>Prosecutor</u>: And as you testified today, do you still find those in Mr. Abdool.

<u>Dr. Gold</u>: All the same things are there. I've just added to them.

(TR Vol. XIV 1133-1134).

This claim may be denied for two reasons. First, this argument is not preserved for appeal. Abdool posed no objections to the prosecutor's questions. Claims of prosecutorial misconduct are preserved for appeal only if the defendant first makes a timely objection and states the legal ground for that objection. Additionally, a defendant must state the same legal ground as the one he later presents on appeal. Farina v. State, 937 So.2d 612, 628-629 (Fla. 2006).

As Abdool did not even object at all to the questions he now complains of, Abdool failed to preserve this issue for appeal. The only exception to this preservation requirement is fundamental error. Id.

Overturning a conviction or death sentence on the basis of fundamental error is a remedy that should be applied only on rare occasion. Fundamental error is error that reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty [or death sentence] could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error. In other words, it is error that goes to the foundation of the case.

In cases involving allegations of prosecutorial misconduct, this Court has ruled that prosecutorial misconduct constitutes fundamental error only when, but for the misconduct, the jury could not have reached the verdict it did. <u>Farina v. State</u>, 937

So.2d 612, 628-629 (Fla. 2006). This Court may deny this claim because the prosecutor's questions did not constitute error, let alone fundamental error.

Given Dr. Gold's testimony that, in her opinion, Abdool had a "very, very, very, serious psychotic disorder in the delusional area", the prosecutor was entitled to elicit testimony that in spite of this "psychotic disorder in the delusional area", Abdool knew right from wrong. (TR Vol XIV 1119). While inquiry into his competence may have been irrelevant because his competency was not directly at issue, the question was clearly designed to elicit testimony that Abdool knows what is going on (that is he is not always delusional). (TR Vol. XIV 1128). Even so, Abdool cannot show that Dr. Gold's response that Abdool is competent, a fact that Abdool did not then, and does not now, dispute, denied him of a fundamentally fair trial.

As to the prosecutor's questioning of Dr. Gold on lack of remorse, the record shows the prosecutor did not elicit testimony that Abdool did not express any remorse for the murder of Amelia Sookdeo. Nor can Abdool point to anywhere in the record where the prosecutor argued Abdool's lack of remorse in non-statutory aggravation.

¹² Internal citations and quotes omitted.

Instead, the record reflects the prosecutor was simply eliciting testimony about traits shared by persons with antisocial personality features, some of which Dr. Gold found in Abdool. It would defy law and logic to conclude that while a prosecutor can bring out testimony a defendant is anti-social or has anti-social features, a fact that Abdool does not seem to dispute, the prosecutor cannot elicit testimony to explain to the jury just what having antisocial personality features means. This is especially true in a case where a defense expert opines a defendant has a serious mental disorder and then testifies that his "very, very, very" serious mental disorder had nothing to do with what happened on the night of the murder. (TR Vol. XIV 1140).

Abdool cannot show the prosecutor's questions constituted error. To the extent that any questioning about the lack of remorse as a feature of anti-social personality disorder was error, it certainly was not fundamental error.

(2) Dr. Tressler

Abdool also complains the prosecutor brought out testimony from Dr. Daniel Tressler that Abdool knew right from wrong, was competent to stand trial and exhibited no remorse for the murder of Amelia Sookdeo. (IB 63). However, the record refutes any claim the prosecutor asked Dr. Tressler whether Abdool was competent. The record also refutes Abdool's claim that the

prosecutor asked Dr. Tressler any questions about Abdool's lack of remorse. (TR Vol. XV 1200).

Because the prosecutor did not elicit any testimony about competency or lack of remorse, the only remaining comment to which Abdool seems to object is the prosecutor's question to Dr. Tressler about Abdool's capacity to know right from wrong. Abdool cites to no case where this question has been found to constitute error, let alone fundamental error.

The thrust of Abdool's argument at trial, and again here before this Court, is that Abdool is childlike, whose accountability for this horrific crime should be diminished because of his learning disabilities, poor decision making skills, low IQ, and immaturity. (TR Vol. XVI 1279, 1281-1283, IB 14, IB 78-79, 86-87). As such, the prosecutor was entitled to bring out one undisputed fact. At the time of the murder, Dane Patrick Abdool knew what he was doing and that it was wrong. Despite this, he did it anyway for his own purposes, and in a most heinous way.

B. <u>Question about Abdool's upbringing in a</u> Muslim home

In this portion of Abdool's claim, Abdool alleges that the prosecutor improperly elicited testimony that Abdool was raised in a Muslim home. (IB 64). Abdool argues that, especially in today's political climate, eliciting such testimony was

egregious misconduct. Abdool also claims eliciting such testimony was inflammatory because research studies, none of which was presented to the trial court below, show there is a large segment of Americans who view Muslins with fear and prejudice. (IB 64).

Abdool points to one place in the record where this occurred.

The question at issue came when the prosecutor was cross-examining, Abdool's step-father's sister, Ashmin Gadjader.

During the penalty phase and subsequent to the testimony at issue, Abdool's mother testified as to Abdool's biological father's drinking problem. (TR Vol. XIV 1047). Patrick Abdool himself had admitted to drinking alcohol when Abdool was a youngster but denied he was alcoholic. (TR Vol. XIV 1001). Abdool's mother clearly thought otherwise. (TR Vol. XIV 1047). The prosecutor asked Ms. Gadjader the following:

<u>Prosecutor</u>: And Nazreen's [Abdool's mother] and Haseeb's [Abdool's stepfather] household was a very loving household, correct?

Ms. Gadjader: In Trinidad, yes.

Prosecutor: No alcohol issues in the family?

Ms. Gadjader: No, ma'am.

<u>Prosecutor</u>: In fact, Haseen and Nazreen did not have alcohol in their household, correct?

Ms. Gadjader: No.

Prosecutor: Their household was based in faith,
correct?

Ms. Gadjader: Yes.

Prosecutor: They're Muslims?

Ms. Gadjader: Yes

<u>Prosecutor</u>: And everything that your brother and Nazreen tried to do was teach Mr. Abdool right from wrong?

Ms. Gadjader: I believe so.

(TR Vol. XIII 991-992).

This claim may be denied for two reasons. First, the issue was not preserved for appeal with a contemporaneous objection. (TR Vol. XIII 91-92). Mr. Abdool's failure to object results in a failure to preserve the issue for review. <u>Lugo v. State</u>, 845 So.2d 74, 102 (Fla. 2003). See also Farina v. State, 937 So.2d 612, 628-629 (Fla. 2006). This leaves fundamental error as the only basis for relief. <u>Lugo v. State</u>, 845 So.2d at 102. 13

There is no basis for this Court to find error, let alone fundamental error. While Abdool might have some colorable argument if the prosecutor's question had been intended, and then used, to spark "fear and prejudice" in members of the jury, the record reflects just the opposite.

During the penalty phase, Abdool presented several family members to testify about Abdool's upbringing and good character.

Appellee set forth the standard for finding fundamental error in the arguing Appellant's first claim of prosecutorial misconduct. For brevity's sake, Appellee will not repeat it.

Abdool also presented evidence, through the testimony of Abdool's mother and biological father, that Abdool had a somewhat rough start in life because his mother and father divorced when he was young and his father drank and gambled excessively. (TR Vol. XVI 1281). Indeed, the trial court found several non-statutory mitigators relating to Abdool's early childhood. (TR Vol. VII 879-894). Abdool also presented his step-father's sister who told the jury that she was a deaconess in the Presbyterian church and held a very responsible position. (TR Vol. XIII 986).

In response to Abdool's mitigation evidence, the prosecutor was entitled to bring out testimony from Abdool's witnesses that after the age of seven, and for some 12 years before this murder, Abdool lived in a stable hard working household, with loving, attentive, and God fearing parents who raised Abdool in an atmosphere free from neglect, abuse, gambling or alcohol. Abdool can point to nothing in any of the prosecutor's subsequent comments or argument that would lead to the conclusion the purpose of the prosecutor's questioning was to spark fear, hatred or bias against Mr. Abdool.

Abdool admitted to the police that he obtained alcohol for Amelia and she drank it on the night of the murder. (TR VOl. X 509-510). Amelia' blood alcohol upon autopsy was .128, more that $1\ 1/2$ times the legal limit to drive in Florida. (TR Vol. VIII 171-172).

Abdool cannot show the one question about which he now complains constitutes error, let alone fundamental error. This Court should reject this claim.

ISSUE VI

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE STATE TO PRESENT CERTAIN VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE (RESTATED)

In this claim, Abdool avers the trial judge erred in allowing the jury to hear certain victim impact evidence. The admission of victim impact testimony is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Schoenwetter v. State, 931 So.2d 857, 869 (Fla.2006) (citing Zack v. State, 911 So.2d 1190 (Fla.2005)).

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